IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MAGGIE MAYWEATHER

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VERSUS

į

f

ſ

١

1

r

.

----i

!

i

÷.

ŧ:

CAUSE NO.: 2007-CA-00580

ROSE CARPENTER AND ISLE OF CAPRI CASINO

APPELLEE

 \sim

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

ALLAN D. SHACKELFORD Post Office Box 267 Clarksdale, Mississippi 38614 (662) 627-4191

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MAGGIE MAYWEATHER

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VERSUS

t

CAUSE NO.: 2007-CA-00580

ROSE CARPENTER AND ISLE OF CAPRI CASINO

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

l

Ì

ſ

ſ

i

1

:

1.1.1

.

1.1.1

İ

£,

l

1. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment on the Plaintiff's count for false arrest.

2. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment on the Plaintiff's count for slander.

STATEMENT OF CASE

On November 5, 2002, Maggie Mayweather was in the Isle of Capri Casino playing slot machines. (Deposition of Mayweather, p.10, 11.21-23; p. 13, 11.10-12) All her actions were captured on a video tape which is attached to the record.

When Ms. Mayweather was walking through the casino, she noticed a wallet lying in the floor, so she reached down and picked the wallet up and placed it on a ledge of the bank (slot machines are arranged on top of a platform, referred to as a bank, that is approximately 15 feet long) in plain view of everyone including the surveillance cameras of the slot machines. She then turned and started playing a slot machine. (Surveillance video)

Subsequently, two men that she believed to be security personnel approached her and told her she had to go with them. (Deposition of Mayweather, p.11,11.14-16) She questioned the men as to the reason why she needed to go with them but they just reiterated that she needed to go with them. (Deposition of Mayweather, p.14, 11.7-8) They escorted her to a room and once in the room, one of the men sat in front of the door, blocking the only exit. (Deposition of Mayweather, p. 17, 11.25) Mr. Johnny Jackson, who had driven Ms. Mayweather to the casino was also present in this room. (Deposition of Mayweather, p. 15, 11. 18-20) One of the security personnel sat in front of the door, blocking the only exit and the other one stood over by the desk.

6

Î

E

(Deposition of Mayweather, p. 17, 11. 23-25, p. 18,1.1)

One of the men then proceeded to ask Ms. Mayweather if she knew about some money that had been taken out of a wallet and she told him that she didn't take any money out of a wallet. (Deposition of Mayweather, p. 18, 11.7-9) One of the security guards accused Ms. Mayweather of being uncooperative and told his partner to call law enforcement. (Deposition of Mayweather, p. 19, 11. 24-25) The officer arrived and Ms. Mayweather was searched and handcuffed by an Officer from the Sheriff's Department. (Deposition of Mayweather, p. 27, 11. 15-

17)

The Plaintiff saw and heard the Security guard talking to the law enforcement officer and the following is what was said:

Q: Did you see him talking to him?

A: Yes.

Q: Could you hear their conversation?

A: Yes, then they went back outside and you could hear them talking in the hallway.

Q: What did they say?

A: He told him that that lady had wanted to file a complaint and then the officer was talking to the lady and told her the procedure, what all she was going to have to do. Then she told him where they were headed and she didn't want to be bothered with that. Then the short man from the casino was talking and I could hear him talking. He was talking to the lady and told her that she needed to go and press charges and told her that they would set a court date and if she couldn't come to court, that they would reschedule it for her.

Q: This is the short guy saying all this?

A: Yes. He said that we've done all we could. We've had them sign and he said what kind of paper it was saying that they would never come back to the casino. So now you need to do your part and you need to go and sign an affidavit. He said, these are trouble makers and she said, well, it was only twenty dollars. He said, well, it's going to cost them a whole lot more than twenty dollars to get out of this. Then the police officer, he talked to the lady and told her that he said, I can't put them under arrest until you sign an affidavit. She said, she didn't know where to go. He said, well, you can follow me over there. So she agreed to follow him. (Emphasis added)

One of the Security personnel then told Mrs. Carpenter, the owner of the wallet, that she needed to do her part and go and sign an affidavit so that Ms. Mayweather and Mr. Jackson could be arrested. (Deposition of Mayweather, p. 29, 11. 23-25)

Ms. Mayweather was then transported to and booked at the Coahoma County Jail. (Deposition of Mayweather, p. 32, 11. 7-9) Her sister picked her up later that night. (Deposition of Mayweather, p. 33, 11. 21-24)

The case against Ms. Mayweather was later dismissed.

Ms. Mayweather sued Rose Carpenter the owner of the wallet who signed the criminal affidavit and sued the casino whose employees insisted the do sd. Ms. Carpenter did not answer. The casino ensued for summary judgment pedgement which the trial court sustained. It is from this ruling that Ms. Mayweather appeals.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ī

į

ł

ł

ł

ĺ

t

On November 5, 2002, Plaintiff/Appellent Maggie Mayweather entered the casino owned by the Defendant/Appellee to patronize their business. Along with her was Johnny Jackson.

It developed that earlier another patron Ms. Rose Carpenter had dropped her wallet on the floor of the casino. Upon entering the gaming area of the casino Ms. Mayweather noticed the wallet on the floor and picked it up and laid it on a ledge of the bank where the slot machines were placed. All of this was in plain view of everyone including the surveillance video. Ms. Mayweather then proceeded to play the slot machines.

It further turned out that the man who accompanied her to the Isle of Capri saw the wallet lying on the bank and picking it up, took it to the restroom and removed twenty dollars there from.

Based upon these actions Isle of Capri employees came to Ms. Mayweather at the slot machine, where she was playing and instructed her to follow them into a room in the back of the casino. Upon arriving in the room she was falsely accused of complicity of the stealing of the wallet and its contents and blocked her exit from the room.

Ms. Carpenter, the owner of the wallet, was summoned and cohearsed by Isle of Capri employees into signing a criminal affidavit against Ms. Mayweather.

The Isle of Capri employees summoned a deputy sheriff from Coahoma County and had Ms. Mayweather arrested and taken to the jail where she was booked and incarcerated. She later had a friend bond her out.

Subsequently, the charges against Ms. Mayweather were dismissed.

The summary judgment in favor of the Isle of Capri was erroneously

granted. There is ample evidence for a jury to conclude that the actions of the Isle of Capri against Ms. Mayweather were slanderous and resulted in false imprisonment without cause. In fact, based upon the evidence presented thus far, which must be viewed in favor of Ms. Mayweather, it would be difficult for a court to sustain a jury verdict in favor of the Isle of Capri should a jury see fit to render such a verdict and certainly there is ample evidence to allow a jury to make the determination to.

Ì.

i

ARGUMENT

STANDARD FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

ſ

ſ

- Á

1

Summary judgment is an extreme and drastic measure which courts should use sparingly and only in the clearest of cases. *Frinty v. Crochet & Borel Services, 196 F.R.D. 46, 50 (E.D. Tex. 2000).* "All motions for summary judgment should be viewed with great skepticism and if the trial court is to err, it is better to err on the side of denying the motion." *Daniels v. GNB, Inc., 629 So.2d 595, 599 (Miss.1993); Burton v. Choctaw, 730 So.2d 1, 3 (Miss.1997).*

Summary judgment is appropriate only if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Hirras v. National R.R. Passenger Corp., 95 F.3d 396, 399 (5th Cir.1996)* (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)). The party seeking summary judgment carries the burden of demonstrating that there is no evidence to support the non-movant's case. *Celotex Corporation v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 325 (1986).* It is clear that the Defendant cannot meet that stringent test and summary judgment would be improper.

GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT REGARDING CLAIM OF PLAINTIFF FOR FALSE ARREST

The court in the *City of Mound Bayou v. Johnson, 562 So.2d 1212* (*Miss.1990*) gave a succinct definition of false imprisonment stating "false arrest is an intentional tort which occurs when one causes another to be arrested

falsely, unlawfully, maliciously and without probable cause."

i

1

à

;

Trial court in its opinion in the case at bar stated "...there is absolutely no evidence that the detainment was unlawful and unreasonable. Based on the facts known to the security officers and the defendant at the time of the incident, it was reasonable for them to believe that a crime had been committed."

There is no question that the employees of the defendant Isle of Capri had reasonable grounds for believing that a crime had been committed. A crime had been committed. However, there must be another element to make the actions of the employees of the Isle of Capri justified and relieve them of false arrest and false imprisonment-namely reasonable grounds to believe that Maggie Mayweather committed the crime. The evidence linking Maggie Mayweather to the crime is that she arrived at the casino with the person who committed the crime; she picked up the lost wallet from the casino floor; and she laid it on a slot machine stand. This is the only evidence of connection between the wallet, its contents or the theft which the casino can adduce to justify the action of its employees. It must hastily be pointed out that even though this is not a scintilla of evidence of Maggie Mayweather's connection to the crime when she retrieved the wallet from the floor and laid it on the slot machine stand, the place where she laid it was not hidden or concealed in anyway but was in plain view of all including the surveillance tape which has been introduced into

evidence. That surveillance tape clearly shows that the wallet was laid in a place to be found by anyone and that Maggie Mayweather did not examine it, open it, or do anything else to determine its contents. Since the actions of Maggie Mayweather are clearly captioned on the tape introduced into evidence she implores the court to view the tape and screen it for any action which could imply criminal action or intent.

Furthermore, the statements of the security officers to the owner of the wallet and the co-defendant herein clearly reflects that the security officers had a pre-meditated agenda for having Maggie Mayweather arrested and imprisoned. That statement was as follows:

Q: Did you see him talking to him	Q:	Did	you see	him	talking	to him?
-----------------------------------	----	-----	---------	-----	---------	---------

A: Yes.

ſ

Q: Could you hear their conversation?

A: Yes, then they went back outside and

you could hear them talking in the hallway.

Q: What did they say?

A: He told him that that lady has wanted to file a complaint and then the officer was talking to the lady and told her the procedure, what all she was going to have to do. Then she told him where they were headed and she didn't want to be bothered with that. Then the short man from the casino was talking and I could hear him talking. He was talking to the lady and told her that she needed to go and press charges and told her that they would set a court date and if she couldn't come to court, that they would reschedule it for her. Q: This is the short guy saying all this?

! ;

1

1

ſ

.

í.

Yes. He said that we've done all we A: could. We've had them sign and he said what kind of paper it was saying that they would never come back to the casino. So now you need to do your part and you need to go and sign the affidavit. He said, these are trouble makers and she said, well, it was only twenty dollars. He said, well, it's going to cost them a whole lot more than twenty dollars to get out of this. Then the police officer, he talked to the lady and told her that he said, I can't put them under arrest until you sign an affidavit. She said, she didn't know where to go. He said, well, you can follow me over So she agreed to follow him. (Emphasis there. added)

It was only with this arm twisting that the casino prevailed on the owner of the wallet and co-defendant herein to sign the affidavit which of course resulted in the arrest and imprisonment of Maggie Mayweather by the Coahoma County Sheriff Deputy.

Furthermore, the court found that "...facts do not provide proficient case of false arrest and imprisonment." It bases this opinion upon a finding that Maggie Mayweather was not forced to accompany the officers to an interview room nor was she verbally threatened. The court found that "The security officers told the Plaintiff to come with them, and she ascended."

To begin with, this finding ignores the fact that the officers through their actions as set forth above caused Maggie Mayweather to be arrested and imprisoned by the Coahoma County Sheriff Deputies.

Secondly, the security officers approached Maggie Mayweather on the

floor of the casino it gave all the appearance of being security personnel and one was even displaying handcuffs on his pants, granted they did not at that time handcuff her, lay hold upon her or use any physical force to take her to a interrogation room. However, they certainly gave the appearance of having authority to require that she accompany them. (it should be noted that Maggie Mayweather had no idea as to why she was being told to "…just come with us…".) Of course, as was held in *Marting v. Santora, 199 So.2d 63, 65 (Miss. 1967)*, this court recognized that it is unnecessary to utilities actual force or violence in order to constitute arrest or imprisonment if it is to be reasonably apprehended.

After this confrontation by the security officers Maggie Mayweather was taken to a room where she was told to stay. Furthermore, although she was not told she could not leave the door was blocked by security officers.

It is submitted that, it was reasonable to be apprehended that she could not leave.

2

ı

ı

It is submitted that, in light of the causation of her actual detention and imprisonment by Coahoma County law enforcement and her detention by security personnel a question of fact for a jury is clearly presented and that actually a jury would be hard pressed to find that false arrest and false imprisonment did not occur at the hands of the employees of the casino.

QUESTION OF FACT PRESENTED AS TO SLANDER

The trial court in dismissing the claim for slander stated:

As for the slander claim, it is also wholly without merit. By the Plaintiff's own admition in her deposition the officers merely "accused" her of picking up the wallet, not stealing it. Since she admits picking up the wallet, there can be no claim for slander.

This ignores the acquisition of being a trouble maker as noted above

which was used to co hearse the co-defendant and owner of the wallet to sign

the affidavit resulting in the arrest and imprisonment of Maggie Mayweather. It

also totally ignores the fact that the co-defendant had no knowledge of who had

taken funds from her wallet and therefore, some type of acquisition must

necessarily have been made by the casino employees in order to induce the

reluctant affiant to sign the affidavit.

To establish a claim for defamation, an ordinary plaintiff must show the following: (1) a false and defamatory statement concerning the plaintiff; (2) an unprivileged publication to a third party; (3) fault amounting at least to negligence on the part of the publisher; and (4) either action ability sic. of the statement irrespective of special harm or the existence of special harm caused by the publication. *Moon v. Condere Corp., 690 So.2d 1191, 1195 (Miss. 1997); Eselin-Bullock & Assocs. Ins. Agency, Inc. v. National Gen. Ins. Co., 604 So.2d 236, 241 (Miss. 1992); Blake v. Gannett Co., 529 So.2d 595, 602 (Miss. 1998); Chatham v. Gulf Publ'g Co., Inc., 502 So.2d 647, 649 (Miss. 1987).*

There are five categories in Mississippi for which no special harm need be shown: "(1) Words imputing the guilt or commission of some criminal offense involving moral turpitude and infamous punishment. (2) Words imputing the existence of some contagious disease. (3) Words imputing unfitness in an officer who holds an office of profit or emolument, either in respect of morals or inability to discharge the duties thereof. (4) Words imputing a want of integrity or capacity, whether mental or pecuniary, in the conduct of a profession, trade or business;" and in this and some other jurisdictions (5) Words imputing to a female a want of chastity.

W. T. Farley, Inc. v. Bufkin, 132 So.2d 86, 87 (Miss. 1931).

ſ

An utterance falsely imputing a crime or accusing one of being a thief is actionable per se.. *Boler v. Mosby*, 352 So.2d 1320, 1323 (Miss. 1977); Lemonis v. Hogue, 57 So.2d 856, 866 (Miss. 1952); citing from *Baugh v. Baugh*, 512 So.2d 1283, 1285 (Miss. 1987). The relevant phrase is that "an utterance falsely [1] imputing a crime or [2] accusing one of being a thief is actionable *per se*. id at 1285. (brackets added). *Baugh* literally provides that the imputation of any cr4ime at all is actionable per se. *Speed v. Scott*, 787 So.2d 626, 634 (Miss. 2001).

The security personnel imputed criminal activity to the Plaintiff in this case and since the Plaintiff was not found guilty of any criminal activity and in fact, did not do anything against the law, this imputation of criminal activity should be recognized as slander per se. Therefore, it is a dispute of fact as to whether the Plaintiff has a valid claim for slander.

CONCLUSION

Maggie Mayweather and an acquaintance went to the casino of the Isle of Capri as customers.

While there Maggie Mayweather was falsely accused by security personnel of the casino of theft. These accusations were in the presence of others and in addition thereto she was accused of being a trouble maker in the presence of others.

Furthermore, at the insistence of the employees of the Isle of Capri, Ms. Mayweather was arrested by the Coahoma County Sheriff's Department, booked and jailed for a crime that there is no evidence that she committed.

The above actions constitute both slander and false imprisonment. Being actionable conduct on behalf of the employees of the Isle of Capri, Ms. Mayweather is entitled to have a jury determine the liability of the Isle of Capri and the amount, if any, of her damages.