## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### MAGGIE MAYWEATHER

#### VERSUS

## APPELLANT

NO. 2007-CA-00580

## ROSE CARPENTER AND ISLE OF CAPRI CASINO

#### APPELLEE

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Ms. Maggie Mayweather Plaintiff/Appellant;
- 2. Allan D. Shackelford, Esquire Attorney for Plaintiff/Appellant;

II. Statement of Facts Relevant to Issues for Review				
	A. The Incident 2			
	B. Activities in the Interview Room 4			
Summary of	Argument			
Argument .				
I.	Standard of Review			
II.	The Plaintiff's Slander Claim Fails as a Matter of Law			
	A. IOC Never Accused the Plaintiff of Committing A Crime			
	B. The Plaintiff has Failed to Present Any Evidence That She Was Damaged by the "Troublemaker" Comment			
III.	The Plaintiff's Claim for False Imprisonment Fails as a Matter of Law 12			
	A. The Plaintiff Has Failed to Present Any Evidence That She Was Actually Detained			
	B. The Plaintiff's False Imprisonment Claims Fails Because Any Detention Was Not Unlawful			
IV.	The Plaintiff's False Arrest Claim Fails Because Probable Cause Existed 22			
Conclusion				
Certificate of	Service			

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Ţ

Ţ

×.

-----

<u>Cases</u> <u>Page(s)</u>
Armistead v. Minor, 815 So.2d 1189 (Miss. 2002)11
Bass v. Dunbar House Inc., 161 A.2d 50 (Mun.Ct.App., D.C. 1960) 20
Benjamin v. Hooper Electronic Supply Co., Inc., 568 So. 2d 1182 (Miss. 1990) 22
Blake v. Gannett Co., 529 So.2d 595 (Miss.1988)
Chatham v. Gulf Publ'g Co., Inc., 502 So.2d 647 (Miss.1987)
Chrestman v. State, 114 So. 748 (1927)
City of Mound Bayou v. Johnson, 562 So.2d 1212 (Miss.1990)
Condere Corp. v. Moon, 880 So.2d 1038 (Miss. 2004)
Croft v. Grand Casino Tunica, Inc., 910 So.2d 66 (Miss. App. 2005)
Eason v. Federal Broad. Co., 697 So.2d 435 (Miss. 1997)
Eselin-Bullock & Assocs. Ins. Agency, Inc. v. National Gen. Ins. Co., 604 So.2d 236 (Miss.1992)
Elston v. Circus Circus Mississippi, Inc., 908 So.2d 771 (Miss. App. 2005)
Hartford Cas. Ins. Co. v. Haliburton Co., 826 So.2d 1206 (Miss. 2001) 8
Hudson v. Palmer, 2007 WL 2472559 (Miss. App. 2007) 22, 23
Journal Pub. Co. v. McCullough, 743 So.2d 352 (Miss. 1999)
Lee v. Alexander, 607 So.2d 30 (Miss.1992)
Lester v. Albers Super Markets, 114 N.E.2d 529 (Ohio 1952)
Lowery v. Guaranty Bank and Trust Co., 592 So.2d 79 (Miss. 1991)
Martin v. Santora, 199 So.2d 63 (Miss. 1967) 16, 17, 18
Moon v. Condere Corp., 690 So.2d 1191 (Miss.1997)

Owen v. Pringle, 621 So.2d 668 (Miss. 1993) 8
Owens v. Kroger Co., 430 So.2d 843 (Miss. 1983) 22
Page v. Wiggins, 595 So.2d 1291 (Miss.1992)
Parker v. Mississippi Game and Fish Com'n. 555 So.2d 725 (Miss. 1989)
Pollack v. City of Newark, N. J., 147 F.Supp. 35 (D. N.J., 1956)
<i>Price v. Roark</i> , 256 F.3d 364 (5th Cir.2001) 22
Smith v. Magnolia Lady, Inc., 925 So.2d 898 (Miss. App. 2006) 19, 21, 22
State for Use of Powell v. Moore, 174 So.2d 352 (Miss. 1965)
<i>Thornhill v. Wilson</i> , 504 So.2d 1205 (Miss.1987) 13, 21
W. T. Farley, Inc. v. Bufkin, 132 So.2d 86 (Miss. 1931)
Wallace v. Thornton, 672 So.2d 724 (Miss.1996)

## <u>Treatises</u>

ł

ļ

'

ι.

-

Ι.

1 Restatement of Torts §§ 35-45 (1934	)	13
---------------------------------------	---	----

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether the trial court correctly granted summary judgment dismissing the Plaintiff's claim for slander when, by the Plaintiff's own admission, the alleged slanderous statement was true.

,

;

1

2. Whether the trial court correctly granted summary judgment on the Plaintiff's claims of false arrest and false imprisonment when the Plaintiff voluntarily went with the Defendant's employees, the Plaintiff never attempted to leave and the Defendant possessed probable cause to believe the Plaintiff had committed a crime.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### I. Nature of Case and Course of Proceedings in Lower Court

The Appellant/Plaintiff Maggie Mayweather (hereinafter "Plaintiff" or "Mayweather") filed suit against Rose Carpenter (hereinafter "Carpenter") and the Isle of Capri Casino<sup>1</sup> (hereinafter "IOC"), alleging that she was the victim of slander, false imprisonment and false arrest. The Plaintiff never served Defendant Carpenter with process and, as a result, Carpenter never appeared in the case and did not take part in discovery. The Plaintiff and IOC conducted discovery and, after the close of discovery, IOC timely moved for summary judgment on all of the Plaintiff's claims. The Circuit Court of Coahoma County granted IOC's motion and dismissed the Plaintiff's claims against IOC with prejudice. The Plaintiff has appealed the decision of the lower court.

### II. Statement of Facts Relevant to Issues for Review

#### A. The Incident.

On November 5, 2002, Carpenter was a patron at the Isle of Capri Casino. R. 27; R. 32. During her visit at the casino, when taking her seat at one of the slot machines, Carpenter's wallet fell unnoticed from her purse to the floor. See surveillance video, R. 44. Carpenter was playing a slot machine located roughly in the middle of one bank<sup>2</sup> of slot machines, with her back to another other bank of slot machines. See surveillance video, R. 44. The wallet came to rest immediately behind Carpenter, in the middle of the aisle running between the two banks of slot machines. See surveillance video, R. 44. The accidental dropping of the wallet, as well as the other events

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The correct name of the entity which owns and operates the Isle of Capri Casino at Lula, Mississippi is IOC-Lula, Inc. However the Plaintiff improperly identified the Defendant in her Complaint as Isle of Capri Casino.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Slot machines are arranged on top of a wooden base approximately 15 feet long. Several machines are situated side by side on one single wooden base. This arrangement is referred to as a "bank" of slot machines.

described *infra*, were caught on surveillance video, a copy of the video tape being Exhibit C to IOC's Motion for Summary Judgment and thus a part of the record on appeal. R. 44.

On this same day, Mr. Johnny Jackson (hereinafter "Jackson") and the Plaintiff, Ms. Maggie Mayweather, had traveled together to the casino. R. 52. Jackson had known Mayweather's family for some time and considered the relationship between he and the plaintiff as one of "friends." R. 52. At the time that the wallet fell from Carpenter's purse, Jackson was standing at the end of that same bank of slot machines, in a position to observe the wallet. See surveillance video, R. 44. Immediately after the wallet fell to the floor, Mayweather approached Jackson, and, after pausing momentarily at the end of the bank of slot machines, the two of them, the Plaintiff leading but followed *very closely* by Jackson, proceeded down the aisle where the wallet lay. See surveillance video, R. 44. Upon arriving at the wallet, Mayweather bent down and retrieved the wallet. See surveillance video, R. 44. Mayweather and Jackson then proceeded further down the aisle and began playing slot machines toward the end of this same bank. See surveillance video, R. 44.

According to Mayweather, once she picked up the wallet, she placed it between two of the slot machines situated on this bank of machines. R. 33-34. Jackson subsequently took the wallet from where it had been placed by Mayweather, placed it beneath his coat to hide it, went to a nearby men's restroom, opened the wallet, found \$20 in the wallet, removed the \$20, and discarded the wallet into a trash can located in the restroom. R. 56-57 and R. 60-61. Carpenter returned to the banks of slot machines in an effort to find her wallet and appeared on the video to ask other patrons regarding her missing wallet. See surveillance video, R. 44. Despite Mayweather's continued presence at the bank of slot machines where Carpenter was searching, Mayweather never communicated to Carpenter regarding "finding" the wallet. See surveillance video, R. 44.

Carpenter eventually notified security personnel regarding her missing wallet. R. 85.

Following receipt of the report of the missing wallet, casino security personnel reviewed the videotape and observed that Mayweather had picked up the wallet. R. 85. The video also depicted Jackson leaving his slot machine and going to the men's restroom. See surveillance video, R. 44. A security guard was dispatched to the men's restroom where the now cashless wallet was discovered in the trash can. R. 85.

#### B. Activities in the Interview Room.

Following the discovery of the wallet, security personnel approached Mayweather and Jackson and, according to both Mayweather and Jackson, requested that Mayweather and Jackson accompany them. R. 27; R. 64. Mayweather and Jackson agreed to accompany the security personnel. R. 28; R. 65. Both testified that no force, or threat of force, was used. R. 28; R. 65. Upon reaching the interview room, Mayweather and Jackson were questioned about the wallet. R. 85. Mayweather was not accused of stealing the wallet but was accused of picking up the wallet, which she admitted to doing. R. 29; R. 33. Neither Mayweather nor Jackson disclosed any knowledge of the wallet. R. 35. A Coahoma County deputy was requested and dispatched from the Coahoma County Sheriff's Department. R. 31. Upon arrival of the Deputy Sheriff, Carpenter stated<sup>3</sup> that she wanted to file charges against both Mayweather and Jackson. R. 31. Mayweather and Jackson were then transported to the Coahoma County jail, followed closely by Carpenter. R. 32. Carpenter signed the Affidavit charging both with petit larceny. At the ensuing trial, Carpenter - a non-Mississippi resident - failed to appear and the charges were dismissed. R. 37. Mayweather then filed this litigation against IOC and Carpenter, alleging that IOC and Carpenter committed the

<sup>3</sup> The Plaintiff contends that Isle of Capri personnel strongly encouraged Carpenter to file charges. As will be demonstrated, based upon the undisputed facts of this case, the fact that casino personnel may or may not have encouraged Carpenter to file charges is immaterial.

torts of slander, false arrest and false imprisonment. R. 2 - 4. As discussed *infra*, the Circuit Court correctly granted summary judgment in favor of the Defendant on all three of the Plaintiff's claims. R. 121 - 123.

i.

Į

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court was correct in dismissing the Plaintiff's claims via summary judgment. The Plaintiff could only survive summary judgment in this case if she presented admissible evidence sufficient to create a question of material fact that IOC slandered her, falsely imprisoned her and/or falsely arrested her. The Plaintiff has failed to present any evidence to support any of these theories of liability.

Mayweather alleged in her Complaint that IOC employee(s) slandered her by accusing her of stealing Carpenter's wallet. R. 3. However, Mayweather failed to present any proof that IOC employee(s) accused her of any crime. Instead, Mayweather testified that the IOC employee(s) only accused her of "picking up the wallet", which she admitted to doing. R. 33. Thus, since she admits to doing the only thing she was accused of doing, there was no slander.

Mayweather also failed to present sufficient evidence that she was falsely imprisoned. To establish a claim for false imprisonment, Mayweather must show that she was detained and that such detention was unlawful. The Plaintiff failed to establish that she was forced to go with the casino personnel. Further she failed to establish that her detention was unreasonable. Thus, the Circuit Court correctly dismissed her false imprisonment claim.

Finally, the Plaintiff failed to produce sufficient evidence to create a question of fact regarding her false arrest claim. If probable cause existed, there can be no false arrest. Whether probable cause existed is a question of law for the Court, not a question of fact for the jury. The video of Mayweather picking up the stolen wallet alone is sufficient to establish probable cause. Thus, the Circuit Court also correctly dismissed Mayweather's false arrest claim.

The Plaintiff failed to present any admissible evidence in support of any of the three theories via which the Plaintiff could possibly prevail. The trial court was correct in granting the Defendant's

Motion for Summary Judgment. The Defendant respectfully requests that this Court affirm the trial court's dismissal of the Plaintiff's claims.

÷ .

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. Standard of Review

"Appellate courts apply a de novo standard in reviewing the grant or denial of summary judgment motions, making its own determinations separate and apart from the trial court." *Elston v. Circus Circus Mississippi, Inc.*, 908 So.2d 771, 773 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (citing *Lowery v. Guaranty Bank and Trust Co.,* 592 So.2d 79, 81 (Miss. 1991). "On a motion for summary judgment, a court does not try issues of fact; it can only determine whether there are issues to be tried." *Elston, supra* at 773 (citing *Hartford Cas. Ins. Co. v. Haliburton Co.,* 826 So.2d 1206, 1209-10 (Miss. 2001)).

"The motion for a summary judgment challenges the very existence of legal sufficiency of the claim or defense to which it is addressed; in effect, the moving party takes the position that he is entitled to prevail as a matter of law because his opponent has no valid claim for relief or defense to the actions, as the case may be." *Owen v. Pringle*, 621 So.2d 668, 670 (Miss. 1993). "In evaluating the moving party's position, the court reviews 'all admissions, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, and any other evidence, viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-movant." *Id*.

The material facts relating to the Plaintiff's claims are undisputed. The trial court correctly applied the law to the undisputed material facts and correctly granted summary judgment in favor of IOC.

#### II. The Plaintiff's Slander Claim Fails as a Matter of Law.

Slander is the oral form of defamation.<sup>4</sup> The Mississippi Supreme Court has delineated the

4

The terms defamation, libel, and slander have been used somewhat loosely and interchangeably in this case since its inception, although that would not make a difference

proof necessary to establish a claim of defamation:

¶ 22. To establish a claim for defamation, an ordinary plaintiff must show the following: (1) a false and defamatory statement concerning the plaintiff; (2) an unprivileged publication to a third party; (3) fault amounting at least to negligence on the part of the publisher; and (4) either [actionability] of the statement irrespective of special harm or the existence of special harm caused by the publication. *Moon v. Condere Corp.*, 690 So.2d 1191, 1195 (Miss.1997); *Eselin-Bullock* & Assocs. Ins. Agency, Inc. v. National Gen. Ins. Co., 604 So.2d 236, 241 (Miss.1992); Blake v. Gannett Co., 529 So.2d 595, 602 (Miss.1988); Chatham v. Gulf Publ'g Co., Inc., 502 So.2d 647, 649 (Miss.1987).

Journal Pub. Co. v. McCullough, 743 So.2d 352, 359 (Miss. 1999)

#### A. IOC Never Accused the Plaintiff of Committing a Crime.

Focusing on the claim of "slander," the first assertion of slanderous conduct on the part of

the Defendant appears in paragraph 1 of the Plaintiff's Complaint when she pleads that after being

escorted to the interview room:

"... the employees of Defendant Isle of Capri in the presence of others, accused Plaintiff of stealing personal property belonging to Defendant Carpenter."

R. 3. (Emphasis added). The Plaintiff continues to make this assertion in her Appellant's Brief, when she states she was "accused of complicity of the stealing of the wallet." Appellant's Brief at p. 9. Putting aside the allegations of the Complaint and Appellant's Brief and instead reviewing the *sworn* deposition of the Plaintiff as to what she claims actually occurred in the interview room, the

in the result which we reach today. Defamation is defined as "[t]he act of harming the reputation of another by making a false statement to a third person." Black's Law Dictionary 427 (7th ed.1999). "Libel is written or visual defamation; slander is oral or aural defamation." Robert D. Sack & Sandra S. Baron, *Libel, Slander, and Related Problems* § 2.3, at 67 (2d ed.1994) *Id.* at 927. <u>Condere Corp. v. Moon</u>, 880 So.2d 1038 (Miss. 2004), ftnote. # 2.

facts as testified to by the Plaintiff simply do not support this allegation:

	"Q:	Did either one of these gentlemen actually accuse you of stealing this wallet there in the room?
	A:	No.
	Q:	Did they accuse you of stealing this twenty dollars that this guy mentioned?
	A:	No."
R. 29.		
	"Q:	So, he accused Mr. Jackson of taking the wallet?
· · · ·	A:	Yes.
	Q:	But he never did accuse you of taking the wallet?
. • •	A:	No."

R. 29 - 30.

Later in the deposition, when again pressed on this issue of slander, the Plaintiff testified that the only statement made about her was that she "picked the wallet up," <u>and that such statement was true</u>, as follows:

- "Q: As I understand your testimony earlier, they actually didn't accuse you of stealing the personal property?
- A: He said that I picked the wallet up."

\* \* \*

- "Q: Did you pick the wallet up?
- A: Yes."

R. 33. Thus, as regards the conduct of IOC's security personnel, according to the *sworn* testimony of the Plaintiff herself, IOC never accused Mayweather of stealing the wallet or the money, but rather

only that she "picked the wallet up," which, again according to her own testimony, was a true statement. R. 33 Being a true statement, by definition, the statement cannot constitute slander. "Truth is an absolute defense to a defamation lawsuit in Mississippi." Journal Pub. Co. v. McCullough, 743 So.2d 352, ¶26, (Miss. 1999), *citing* Eason v. Federal Broad. Co., 697 So.2d 435, 437 (Miss. 1997). Because there is no dispute regarding the fact that the only thing which the security personnel accused the Plaintiff of doing was picking up the wallet - and because the Plaintiff admits that she did, in fact, pick the wallet up - the claim of slander, *as a matter of law*, cannot stand.

## B. The Plaintiff Has Failed to Present any Evidence that She Was Damaged by the "Troublemaker" Comment.

In response to IOC's Motion for Summary Judgment, the Plaintiff argued for the first time that IOC also slandered her when its employee allegedly called her a "troublemaker". The Plaintiff's Complaint does not mention this claim. However, even if this comment was indeed made, the Plaintiff has failed to prove that she suffered any injury as a result of the "troublemaker" comment.

"To establish a claim for defamation, an ordinary plaintiff must show the following: (1) a false and defamatory statement concerning the plaintiff; (2) an unprivileged publication to a third party; (3) fault amounting at least to negligence on the part of the publisher; and (4) either actionability of the statement irrespective of special harm or the existence of special harm caused by the publication."

*Armistead v. Minor*, 815 So.2d 1189, 1193 (Miss. 2002). The "troublemaker" comment was allegedly made by an IOC employee to Carpenter, whose wallet was the one stolen. R. 31 - 32. There is no evidence that Carpenter or any one else changed their opinion of the Plaintiff as a result of the "troublemaker" statement. There is also no evidence that the Plaintiff's reputation was injured in any way as a result of the "troublemaker" comment.

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